Filed 04-08-2025

Page 1 of 22

FILED 04-08-2025 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2025AP437-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

T.A.W.,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from an Order of Commitment for Treatment (Incompetency) Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Mark A. Sanders Presiding.

> BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

> > DAVID MALKUS Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1094027

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 malkusd@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

1

ISSUES PRESENTED

 Did the State provide sufficient evidence to support an order for involuntary medication to restore Thomas¹ to competency under *Sell v. United States*, 539 U.S. 166 (2003)?

The circuit court found that the State met all four *Sell* factors.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Thomas does not request oral argument. Publication may be warranted to further clarify the law on issues of constitutional importance and to provide guidance to the bench and bar.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On July 3, 2024, the State charged Thomas with one count of misdemeanor retail theft and one count of resisting an officer causing a soft tissue injury. (2:1). According to the complaint, police attempted to detain Thomas based on a retail theft complaint at Walgreens. (2:1). Thomas allegedly resisted detention, and police officers "took him to the ground," at which point he "kicked at" one of the officers and "grabbed at" the officer's taser. (2:1-2).

¹ A pseudonym for the defendant-appellant, T.A.W.

The officer sustained abrasions to his hands and knees during this struggle, but police were able to detain Thomas. (2:2).

Thomas' competency was called into question on July 5, 2024, and he was remanded into custody without a bail hearing in violation of Wis. Stat. § 969.01. (28:15; App. 68). A psychologist subsequently examined Thomas and opined that he lacked substantial mental capacity to understand the proceedings or assist in his defense such that he was incompetent to stand trial. (16:5-6). Nonetheless, the psychologist opined that Thomas was likely to attain competency within statutory time limits if provided with psychotropic medications. (16:6).

Thomas remained in custody in continued violation of Wis. Stat. § 969.01, and on August 13, 2024, the circuit court committed him to the Department of Health Services for treatment to restore competency. (28:13; App. 66).² From that point forwards, Thomas remained in county jail for an additional four months before finally transferring to the Sand Ridge Secure Treatment Center for competency restoration treatment on December 18, 2024. (28:13; App. 66).

On January 6, 2025, DHS filed a motion requesting an involuntary medication order. (19:1). The motion requested a hearing "to determine

 $\mathbf{7}$

 $^{^2}$ While the circuit court committed Thomas on August 13, 2024, it did not enter a written order to that effect until August 24, 2024. (12:1-2).

whether [Thomas] is competent to refuse medication and requires involuntary medication in order to gain competency[.]" (19:1). Along with the motion, DHS filed a treatment plan prepared by Andrew Kordus, a medical doctor. (19:2-4).

At the involuntary medication hearing, the State called Dr. Kordus as its sole witness. Dr. Kordus testified that he had met with Thomas on two occasions over the past several weeks, and that he believed Thomas was not competent to refuse medications. (30:5-6; App. 9-10). Dr. Kordus further testified that Thomas' diagnosis was "unspecified schizophrenia spectrum or other psychotic disorder." (30:6; App. 10). He said Thomas was experiencing disorganization, thought internal stimuli, and delusions. (30:6; App. 10). Dr. Kordus also stated that medication treatment would be the only way to treat these symptoms, and that medication would likely restore Thomas' competency to stand trial. (30:7, 14; App. 11, 18).

Dr. Kordus further testified that his treatment plan for Thomas included three medications: Risperdal, Haldol, and Olanzapine. (30:8-11; App. 12-15). He stated that Thomas had responded favorably to Risperdal and Haldol in the past, that Thomas was currently prescribed two milligrams of Risperdal at bedtime, and that Haldol and Olanzapine could be administered if Thomas did not respond favorably to Risperdal. (30:8-12; App. 12-16). According to Dr. Kordus, the initial dose for Haldol is usually 5 milligrams, whereas Olanzapine is "administered initially [at] 10 milligrams at bedtime." (30:10-11; App. 14-15). Dr. Kordus testified that in addition to the oral versions of these medications, each medication could be administered via injections. (30:11; App. 15).

Dr. Kordus testified that eight milligrams of 40 milligrams of Haldol. Risperdal. and 30 milligrams of Olanzapine would be the maximum individual doses for each medication. (30:8-11; App. 12-15). However, he did not specify any limitation on the number of maximum individual dosages that could be administered on a per day, per week, or per month basis. (30:8-11; App. 12-15). Similarly, the treatment plan identified dose ranges for each medication without specifying any limitation on the number of maximum individual dosages that could be administered on a daily, weekly, or monthly basis. (19:4).

At the conclusion of testimony, the circuit court addressed the *Sell* factors and found that each factor was satisfied so as to justify involuntarily medication.³ As to the first factor, the court analyzed

³ "In short summation, a court must find that: (1) there are important government interests at stake, including bringing a defendant to trial for a serious crime; (2) involuntary medication will significantly further those state interests; (3) involuntary medication is substantially likely to render the defendant competent to stand trial; and (4) administration of the drugs is in the patient's best medical interest in light of his medical condition." *State v. Green*, 2022

whether an important government interest existed to prosecute Thomas by reference to this Court's recent decision in *State v. J.D.B.*, 2024 WI App 61, 414 Wis. 2d 108, 13 N.W.3d 525. The court first noted that the defendant in *J.D.B.* was charged with a crime that is statutorily defined as a "serious crime," and that Thomas was not charged with any crime that is statutorily defined as serious. (30:34, 38; App. 38, 42). Next, the court stated that the allegations in *J.D.B.* were more aggravated than in the instant case because J.D.B. punched and threatened to murder a police officer. (30:35; App. 39).

The court stated that Thomas' case and J.D.B.were similar in that special circumstances existed in both cases to lessen the government's interest in prosecution. Specifically, the court noted that both Thomas and J.D.B. were held in custody without a bail hearing in violation of Wis. Stat. § 969.01, and that both faced lengthy delays in county jail before being transferred to an institution for competency restoration treatment. (28:12-15; App. 65-68). The court also noted that the delay in Thomas' case was longer than in J.D.B. (28:13; App. 66).

Notwithstanding the above, the circuit court concluded that the State had an important interest in prosecuting Thomas primarily based on two allegations in the criminal complaint. (28:15; App. 68). First, the court stated that the police officer in

WI 30, ¶29, 401 Wis. 2d 542, 973 N.W.2d 770 (citing *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180-81).

Thomas' case allegedly suffered what the court characterized as "a minor injury." (30:43; App. 47). Second, the court stated that Thomas had allegedly attempted to grab the officer's taser at one point. (28:10-11; App. 63-64). Thus, while the court believed that the first *Sell* factor presented a "very close" case, it ultimately decided that the State had established the first factor. (28:16; App. 69).

The circuit court further concluded that the State had established the second, third, and fourth *Sell* factors. In support of this finding, the court relied on Dr. Kordus' testimony that forced medication was likely to restore Thomas' competency to stand trial, that there were no alternatives to medication, and that the proposed treatment plan was medically appropriate for Thomas. (28:16-19; App. 69-72).

The circuit court subsequently entered an order authorizing the involuntary administration of medication, and Thomas filed a notice of motion to continue the automatic temporary stay of the order pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.109(7). (24:1; 25:1; App. 3). Thomas then filed a memorandum in support of the motion, and this Court entered an order continuing the stay pending further order of the Court. (32:6).

ARGUMENT

I. The State failed to prove the *Sell* factors by clear and convincing evidence.

A. *Sell*'s substantive requirements and standard of review.

If the government seeks involuntary an medication order during criminal competency proceedings, the goal of that order is limited to "rendering the defendant competent to stand trial." Sell, 539 U.S. at 181 (2003) (emphasis in original). Unlike the civil commitment system, the criminal legal system is not the appropriate mechanism for providing broad mental health treatment. Involuntarv individuals treatment for deemed incompetent in the criminal system is instead focused on rendering a person—who is presumed innocent competent so they can be prosecuted. For that reason, Sell requires the State to prove four factors by clear and convincing evidence before an accused person can be forcibly medicated.

To meet its burden under *Sell*, the State must first prove that "*important* governmental interests are at stake." *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180 (emphasis in original). This requires proof that medication aims to bring "to trial an individual accused of a serious crime." *Id*. To find the first factor satisfied, a court "must consider the facts of the individual case in evaluating the Government's interest in prosecution." *Id*.

Second, the State must prove that "involuntary medication will *significantly further* the government's interest in prosecuting the offense." Id. at 181 (emphasis in original). To meet its burden on the second factor, the State must prove "that administration of the drugs is substantially likely to render the defendant competent to stand trial" and "substantially unlikely to have side effects that will interfere significantly with the defendant's ability to assist counsel in conducting a trial defense, thereby rendering the trial unfair." Id.

Third, the State must prove "that involuntary medication is *necessary* to further those interests." *Id.* (emphasis in original). This factor requires proof that "any alternative, less intrusive treatments are unlikely to achieve substantially the same result." *Id.* In evaluating this factor, a court "must consider less intrusive means for administering the drugs, e.g., a court order to the defendant backed by the contempt power, before considering more intrusive methods." *Id.*

Fourth, the State must prove "that administration of the drugs is *medically appropriate*, i.e., in the patient's best medical interest in light of his medical condition." *Id.* (emphasis in original). Because "[d]ifferent kinds of antipsychotic drugs may produce different side effects and enjoy different levels of success," courts should consider "the specific kinds of drugs at issue." *Id.*

In evaluating these factors, the task of the the following: "Has is to answer the court Government, in light of the efficacy, the side effects, medical the possible alternatives. and the appropriateness of a particular course of antipsychotic drug treatment, shown a need for that treatment sufficiently important to overcome the individual's protected interest in refusing it?" Id. at 183 (citing Washington v. Harper, 494 U.S. 210, 229 (1990); Riggins v. Nevada, 504 U.S. 127, 134-35 (1992)).

While the Constitution may permit forcible medication in some cases, "[t]hose instances may be rare." *Id.* at 180. If the State does not meet the high burden established by *Sell*, involuntary medication is unconstitutional. *State v. Fitzgerald*, 2019 WI 69, $\P32$, 387 Wis. 2d 384, 929 N.W.2d 165.

Wisconsin Recently, the Supreme Court reaffirmed that "a defendant's liberty interest in refusing involuntary medication at the pretrial stage of criminal proceedings" can be overcome only when "each one of the factors set out in Sell" is satisfied. State v. Green, 2022 WI 30, ¶2. The State bears the burden to prove each one of the four Sell factors by clear and convincing evidence. Green, 2021 WI App 18, ¶16, 396 Wis. 2d 658, 957 N.W.2d 583, aff'd on other grounds, 2022 WI 30; United States v. James, 938 F.3d 719, 722 (5th Cir. 2019) (collecting cases to show that ten of the federal circuit courts that have considered the question agree on this burden and standard of proof).

Page 15 of 22

Given the serious deprivation of liberty at stake, "a high level of detail is plainly contemplated by the comprehensive findings *Sell* requires." *United States v. Chavez*, 734 F.3d 1247, 1252 (10th Cir. 2013). If the State fails to prove any one of the four *Sell* factors, the involuntary medication order violates the Due Process Clause and is unconstitutional. *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 179.

Because this appeal implicates Thomas' due process rights, the issues present a question of constitutional fact which requires this Court to apply facts to the applicable constitutional standard in *Sell*. *See State v. Woods*, 117 Wis. 2d 701, 715, 345 N.W.2d 457 (1984); *see also Langlade Cnty. v. D.J.W.*, 2020 WI 41, ¶¶23-24, 391 Wis. 2d 231, 942 N.W.2d 277.

Under that standard, this Court will uphold the circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous or against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence. *Id.*, ¶24. Whether those facts meet the legal standard, however, is a question of law reviewed de novo. *Woods*, 117 Wis. 2d at 716; *D.J.W.*, 2020 WI 41, ¶25.

B. The government does not have an important interest in prosecuting Thomas.

Sell did not define "serious crime," but federal courts often defer to the judgment of the legislature. United States v. Breedlove, 756 F.3d 1036, 1041 (7th Cir. 2024); see Lewis v. United States, 518 U.S. 322, 326 (1996) ("The judiciary should not substitute its

Page 16 of 22

judgment as to seriousness for that of a legislature, which is far better equipped to perform the task."). In Wisconsin, the legislature has already defined the phrases "serious crime" and "serious felony" in multiple contexts.⁴ The statute defining "serious crime" for the purposes of revoking bond, Wis. Stat. 969.08, is the best fit because it is the most expansive and because holding an individual without bond best mirrors the competing interests in administering involuntary medication, i.e. a defendant's liberty interest weighed against the State's public safety and prosecutorial interests. As a result, this Court has relied on Wis. Stat. § 969.08 when determining whether a crime is serious for the purposes of the first *Sell* factor. *J.D.B.*, 2024 WI App 61, ¶36.

Here, the State has only a minimal interest in prosecuting Thomas because neither of his charges are considered "serious" under Wis. Stat. § 969.08 nor any other statute. Additionally, neither of Thomas' charges are violent offenses. *See* Wis. Stat. § 941.29(1g). And as this Court recognized when granting a continued stay of the involuntary medication order, both of Thomas' alleged crimes fall on the lower end of the punishment spectrum, reflecting the legislature's determination that these offenses are less serious than those in higher

⁴ "Serious crime" is defined in Wis. Stat. §§ 48.685(1)(c); 50.065(1)(e)1. & 2; and 969.08(10)(b). Wis. Stat. § 949.165(1)(a) incorporates the definition from § 969.08(10)(b). "Serious felony" is defined in Wis. Stat. §§ 48.415(9m)(b); 302.11(1g); 939.62(2m)(a)2m.; and 973.0135(1)(b).

categories. (32:6). See also United States v. White, 620 F.3d 401, 410-11 (4th Cir. 2010) ("Without establishing a hard and fast rule ... a crime is serious for involuntary medication purposes where the defendant face[s] a ten-year maximum sentence for the charges against him.").

Thomas' case is distinct from J.B.D. because the defendant in that case was charged with a violent felony that is statutorily defined as a "serious crime" under Wis. Stat. § 969.08. J.D.B., 2024 WI App 61, ¶36.⁵ In addition to these categorical differences, the specific allegations in J.D.B. were more aggravated because the defendant allegedly made "threats about getting a gun and killing everyone in [his] residence." J.D.B., 2024 WI App 61, ¶6. He also punched a police officer in the face and threatened to murder him. Id. By contrast, Thomas did not make any threats, his alleged conduct was not intended to harm the officer, and it allegedly only resulted in "a minor injury." (30:42-43; App. 46-47). While the circuit court relied heavily on the allegation that Thomas had attempted to grab the officer's taser at one point, the State never introduced evidence from anyone with firsthand knowledge of the incident, and instead chose to rely on a conclusory one-sentence statement in the complaint. (28:10-11; 30:36-37; App. 40-41, 63-64). At a minimum, the lack of evidence presented to support this allegation, the minimal level of detail

17

⁵ This Court concluded that J.D.B. was charged with a serious crime, but held that special circumstances undermined the State's interest in prosecution. *Id.*, \P 35, 53.

Filed 04-08-2025

provided in the complaint, and the absence of any charge filed in connection with the allegation reduces the State's interest in prosecution.

Moreover, "it is not enough that the State generally has an important interest in bringing to trial anyone charged with a serious crime" because special circumstances can undermine the State's interest in prosecution of a serious crime. J.D.B., 2024 WI App 61, ¶37 (emphasis in original). Here, even assuming for the sake of argument that Thomas had been charged with a serious crime, three special circumstances undermine the State's interest in prosecution. First, Thomas was held in custody without a bail hearing for well over a month in violation of Wis. Stat. § 969.01. (28:15; App. 68). As this Court recognized in J.D.B., "[t]his statutory violation is significant, and it lessens the importance of the State's interest in prosecution." 2024 WI App 61, ¶46. Second, Thomas was ordered committed on August 13, 2024, and was supposed to be transported "forthwith" to the appropriate facility for treatment, but he remained in the county jail until December 18, 2024, when he was transferred to Sand Ridge for treatment. (28:13; 12:3; App. 66). As in J.D.B., this delay is a "significant period of time that is incongruous with constitutional demands." 2024 WI App 61, ¶52. Third, Thomas has at this point already been in custody for over nine months and counting such that there is no risk that he will be free without consideration punishment. This lessens the importance of the State's interest in prosecution because it "diminishes the risks that ordinarily attach to freeing without punishment one who has committed a serious crime."" *Id.*, ¶38 (quoting *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180).

Based on the above, the non-violent offenses that Thomas is charged with do not meet the legislature's definition of serious crimes, and special circumstances reduce the government's interest in prosecuting Thomas. For these reasons, the first *Sell* factor was not satisfied.

C. The proposed treatment plan does not satisfy the second or fourth *Sell* factors.

To meet its burden under Sell, the State must present "an individualized treatment plan applied to the particular defendant." Green, 2021 WI App 18, ¶38, aff'd on other grounds, 2022 WI 30. "Whether a treatment plan is sufficiently individualized relates to the second Sell factor-whether the drugs are "substantially likely" to render Thomas competent. See id., $\P{33}$. However, an individualized treatment plan is also needed under the fourth factor because that plan must also be medically appropriate in light of the individual's medical condition. Id., ¶42. Thus, while the two inquiries are separate, there is overlap whether a plan is sufficiently in analyzing individualized to satisfy both the second and fourth Sell factors.

Here, the State's proposed treatment plan identifies several medications with ranges signifying how much of each drug may be administered on a per dose basis, but the plan does not identify the number

Page 20 of 22

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