FILED
04-17-2025
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS
DISTRICT I

Case No. 2025AP437-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,
v.
T. A. W.,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER FOR INVOLUNTARY
MEDICATION TO RESTORE THE DEFENDANT TO
COMPETENCY, ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY
CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MARK A.
SANDERS, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL
Attorney General of Wisconsin

MICHAEL J. CONWAY
Assistant Attorney General
State Bar #1134356

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice
Post Office Box 7857
Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857
(608) 267-8910
(608) 294-2907 (Fax)
conwaymj@doj.state.wi.us

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

B. The State satisfied the first *Sell* factor by establishing an important interest in prosecuting T.A.W. for injuring a police officer.

The first *Sell* factor requires an important governmental interest in the prosecution. “The Government’s interest in bringing to trial an individual accused of a serious crime is important.” *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180. It does not matter whether it is “a serious crime against the person or a serious crime against property.” *Id.* “In both instances the Government seeks to protect through application of the criminal law the basic human need for security.” *Id.* This analysis is case-specific. *Id.* “Special circumstances may lessen the importance of” the government’s interest. *J.D.B.*, 414 Wis. 2d 108, ¶ 37 (quoting *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180). The circuit court correctly concluded that the State has an important interest in prosecuting T.A.W.

T.A.W.’s felony charge is a serious offense. T.A.W.’s charge of resisting arrest, causing a soft tissue injury to an officer, is a Class H felony carrying a maximum prison term of six years. (R. 2:1.) It implicates an important and recurring part of a police officer’s job—taking individuals into custody. It is not only a violent offense against a person, but also an offense against the State’s authority to police criminal conduct and, thus, “the basic human need for security.” *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180. The State’s interest in prosecuting such offenses compounds the State’s already important interest in prosecuting similar altercations between private citizens. For that reason, the circuit court correctly recognized that the State has a significant interest in ensuring that police officers

take people into custody peacefully by using criminal punishment to deter those who refuse like T.A.W. (R. 28:9–10.)

The particular circumstances of T.A.W.’s charged offense heightened its seriousness. T.A.W.’s violence was continuous, as he resisted the handcuffs while standing and kicked at the officers when moved to the ground. (R. 2:1.) He caused abrasions to Officer D.S.’s hands and knees. (R. 2:2.) While on the ground, he attempted to remove the taser from Officer D.S.’s holster. (R. 2:2.) The circuit court reasonably determined that these facts, considered collectively, constitute a serious offense. (R. 28:10–11.) Indeed, the circuit court noted that T.A.W.’s alleged conduct “comes fairly close to an allegation of attempting to disarm a police officer.” (R. 28:10.) The risk posed by someone who injures a police officer while attempting to disarm him is serious. (R. 28:10.)

Officer D.S.’s interest as a victim under Marsy’s Law provided further support for the seriousness of T.A.W.’s offense, which the circuit court aptly noted. (R. 30:43.) Marsy’s Law constitutionally enshrines several rights for crime victims that “vest at the time of victimization.” Wis. Const. art. I § 9m(2). Crime victims have the rights to “be treated with dignity, respect, courtesy, sensitivity, and fairness. . . . full restitution, . . . [and] compensation as provided by law.” Wis. Const. art. I § 9m(2)(a), (m), (n). Moreover, “Marsy’s law guarantees that these rights will be ‘protected by law in a manner no less vigorous than the protections afforded the accused.’” *State v. Johnson*, 2023 WI 39, ¶ 44, 407 Wis. 2d 195, 990 N.W.2d 174 (quoting Wis. Const. art. I § 9m(2)).

Treating T.A.W.’s charge as a nonserious offense runs contrary to Officer D.S.’s constitutionally protected interests as a victim. Categorically classifying T.A.W.’s alleged conduct as nonserious effectively deems the injuries Officer D.S. sustained in the line of duty nonserious, which hardly affords

Officer D.S. dignity and respect. Wis. Const. art. I § 9m(2)(a). Vacating the involuntary medication order based on *Sell* factor one would also preclude Officer D.S. from ever obtaining restitution or compensation for his injuries to which he is constitutionally entitled. Wis. Const. art. I § 9m(2)(m)–(n). Restitution arises only from “crimes considered at sentencing,” which are either crimes of conviction or read-in crimes. Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1g)(a). T.A.W. will never proceed to sentencing for any crimes and, thus, will never be liable to provide Officer D.S. restitution unless he becomes competent through medication that he refuses to take voluntarily. Involuntary medication is the only means to vindicate Officer D.S.’s rights under Marsy’s Law. The circuit court appropriately recognized that the constitutionally protected interests of the victim lend further weight to the seriousness of T.A.W.’s charged offense. (R. 30:43.)

The circuit court thoroughly explained why special circumstances did not lessen the State’s interest in light of this Court’s decision in *J.D.B.* It noted that both J.D.B. and T.A.W. were denied a bail hearing and had a similar length of delay between commitment and placement in a mental health facility, which were two “special circumstances” in *J.D.B.* (R. 28:14–15); *see J.D.B.*, 414 Wis. 2d 108, ¶ 53. The circuit court accepted that they lessened the State’s interest, but not enough to be dispositive when compared to “the injury to the officer combined with the allegation relating to the taser.” (R. 28:15.) The circuit court also noted that these two special circumstances were not dispositive in *J.D.B.*, either. Rather, *J.D.B.* also featured a “significant potential” for a Chapter 51 commitment and concerned a 19-year-old first-time offender. *J.D.B.*, 414 Wis. 2d 108, ¶¶ 41, 53. Here, in contrast, the circuit court found no evidence to support a Chapter 51 commitment and observed that T.A.W. is a 40-year-old repeat offender. (R. 28:12, 15.) The circuit court, thus, correctly evaluated the totality of the circumstances and reasonably

determined that special circumstances did not eliminate the State's interest in prosecution. (R. 28:16.)

T.A.W.'s case has another distinction with *J.D.B.* that the circuit court did not mention. Even though he had a similar length of delay between the commitment order in August 2024 and his arrival in Sand Ridge in December, he actually started receiving psychiatric treatment almost immediately while in jail. That immediate provision of treatment satisfied *J.D.B.*'s statement that "the constitution demands that an incompetent defendant's continued detention for competency restoration . . . be justified by progress toward that goal." *J.D.B.*, 414 Wis. 2d 108, ¶ 51.

The record provides clear evidence that T.A.W. made progress toward competency restoration while in jail. A behavioral specialist attempted to meet with T.A.W. in late August, but T.A.W. refused to meet. (R. 16:4–5.) Psychiatry staff at the jail observed throughout September and October that he exhibited symptoms of psychosis. (R. 16:5; 27:3.) They even talked to T.A.W. about taking an antipsychotic medication, aripiprazole, and he initially agreed to take it, although he did not follow through. (R. 16:5; 27:3.) A psychiatrist visited T.A.W. in jail in early November and diagnosed him with unspecified schizophrenia spectrum and other psychotic disorder. (R. 16:5; 27:3–4.) Jail psychiatry staff continued to try to work with T.A.W. in December. (R. 27:4.) These efforts all informed Dr. Kordus's evaluation of T.A.W. and his proposed treatment. (R. 19:2.) Indeed, he made the same diagnosis of unspecified schizophrenia spectrum and other psychotic disorder as the psychiatrist who evaluated T.A.W. in November. (R. 30:6.) In sum, while T.A.W. had to wait for a placement at Sand Ridge, he did not have to wait for treatment following the commitment order, further distinguishing his case from *J.D.B.*

T.A.W. maintains that his offense is not serious. (T.A.W.'s Br. 16–19.) For one, he considers his charge not serious because it is graded as a Class H felony. (T.A.W.'s Br. 16.) While he is correct that he is charged with only one Class H felony, that is hardly evidence of a lack of seriousness. If convicted, he faces a maximum prison sentence of six years. Wis. Stat. § 939.50(3)(h). It is not even the lowest-graded felony, which is Class I. Wis. Stat. § 939.50(1)(i). More fundamentally, myopically focusing on the gradation of his felony ignores the underlying facts of the alleged criminal conduct, which were critical to the circuit court's conclusion that the State satisfied the first *Sell* factor. (R. 28:9–11.)

T.A.W.'s argument relies substantially on the fact that his charged offense is not defined as a “serious crime” or “serious felony” in other, unrelated state statutes. (T.A.W.'s Br. 15–16.) *J.D.B.* recognized that “*Sell* explicitly prohibits analyzing this [first] factor in such a categorical fashion,” *J.D.B.*, 414 Wis. 2d 108, ¶ 37, although it found that, as a starting point, “battery to a law enforcement officer is a ‘serious crime’ for purposes of *Sell*,” *id.* ¶ 36. The circuit court correctly declined to use a categorical approach and considered the totality of the circumstances. (R. 28:5–11.)

The absurd result of T.A.W.'s statutory-definition argument reveals the perils of relying solely on those definitions. Based on Wis. Stat. § 941.29(1g), T.A.W. asserts that he did not commit a violent offense. (T.A.W.'s Br. 16.) For starters, T.A.W. is wrong because that definition applies only to § 941.29 by its own terms. Wis. Stat. § 941.29(1g) (“In this section:”). T.A.W. also misstates the question under *Sell*'s first factor. The question is not whether T.A.W.'s offense was “violent” but whether it was “serious” within the meaning of *Sell*, which means that it implicates an important state interest under the totality of the circumstances. *See Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180. T.A.W. incorrectly assumes that “violent” is a substitute for “serious” in *Sell*. In any event, no reasonable

person would describe T.A.W.'s alleged criminal conduct as non-violent, much less non-serious. He initiated a fracas, kicked at officers, attempted to seize an officer's taser, and caused injuries to Officer D.S. (R. 2:1–2.)

T.A.W. nevertheless insists that this Court must defer to the legislature, which requires accepting his nonsensical conception of non-violence. (T.A.W.'s Br. 16–17.) Again, this Court cannot defer to the state legislature (or even Congress) as to the meaning of the U.S. Supreme Court's words in *Sell*. The only entity to which this Court defers on such questions in the Wisconsin Supreme Court.

Regardless of the impropriety of T.A.W.'s proposed approach, T.A.W.'s argument is flawed as a matter of first principles. Statutes should be interpreted “to avoid absurd or unreasonable results.” *State ex rel. Kalal v. Cir. Ct. for Dane Cty.*, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 46, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. T.A.W. has not attempted to explain why Wis. Stat. § 941.29(1g) provides the legislature's exclusive conception of violence and, thus, compelled the absurd conclusion that he has been charged with a non-violent offense. Nor could he. As noted, the statute itself limits its definitions to the relevant section. Wis. Stat. § 941.29(1g). Even if that were not the case, section 941.29 identifies classes of people barred from possessing firearms. The term “violent felony” is material only to whether a mandatory minimum term of initial confinement applies. Wis. Stat. § 941.29(4m)(a)1. The legislature did not need to exhaustively catalogue violent felonies, because the statute disarms *all felons*, including T.A.W. if he is convicted of his charge. Wis. Stat. § 941.29(1m)(a). Moreover, even if the legislature sought to broadly define “violent” for the entire criminal code—and again, its contrary intent is explicit—that definition would still have to yield to Officer D.S.'s constitutionally protected right as a crime victim to “dignity, respect, courtesy, sensitivity, and fairness.” Wis. Const. art. I § 9m(2)(a); see *Interest of M.L.J.N.L.*, 2024 WI App 11, ¶ 10,

411 Wis. 2d 174, 4 N.W.3d 633 (“If a statute conflicts with a constitutional provision, ‘the constitutional [provision] prevails over the inconsistent statute.’” (alteration in original) (citation omitted)). Accordingly, T.A.W. has provided no basis to conclude that the legislature considers conduct that injures a police officer to be neither violent nor serious.

T.A.W. argues that his crime is not serious because he allegedly engaged in less serious violence than the defendant in *J.D.B.* (T.A.W.’s Br. 17.) The circuit court acknowledged that difference but explained that T.A.W.’s specific conduct, which arguably amounted to an attempt to disarm an officer, put his charged offense on equally serious footing. (R. 28:10.) T.A.W. acknowledges that reasoning and, notably, does not fault it. (T.A.W.’s Br. 17.) Rather, he argues that the circuit court could not rely on the allegations in the criminal complaint for that information. (T.A.W.’s Br. 17.) He claims that the State had to call the officer to testify to these facts in order for the circuit court to rely on them. (T.A.W.’s Br. 17.) This argument is meritless.

If a circuit court intends to commit a defendant for a competency examination under Wis. Stat. § 971.14 prior to the preliminary hearing, it must “[find] that it is probable that the defendant committed the offense charged.” Wis. Stat. § 971.14(1r)(c). The statute expressly authorizes the circuit court to consider the complaint in making that finding. *Id.* The defendant may submit “an affidavit alleging with particularity that the averments of the complaint are materially false.” *Id.* Moreover, the rules of evidence do not apply to proceedings under Wis. Stat. § 971.14(1r)(c). Wis. Stat. § 911.01(4)(c).

Because the circuit court committed T.A.W. for a competency evaluation at the initial appearance before a preliminary hearing, it necessarily found probable cause of his charged offense, as required by Wis. Stat. § 971.14(1r)(c). It was allowed to consider the criminal complaint and was not

bound by the rules of evidence. Wis. Stat. §§ 911.01(4)(c); 971.14(1r)(c). T.A.W. had an opportunity to object to any facts in the complaint by submitting a sworn affidavit. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(1r)(c). He evidently did not. Accordingly, the circuit court made an unchallenged probable cause finding based on the allegations in the criminal complaint. Having done so, the circuit court properly relied on those allegations when considering the seriousness of T.A.W.'s charged offense. The complaint is in the record, and a court may take judicial notice of items in its own docket. *See Chris Schroeder & Sons Co. v. Lincoln Cty.*, 244 Wis. 178, 182, 11 N.W.2d 665 (1943). Nothing in *Sell* or Wisconsin law requires a *de facto* preliminary hearing at the hearing on involuntary medication.

Finally, T.A.W. argues that special circumstances defeat the State's interest in prosecution like they did in *J.D.B.* (T.A.W.'s Br. 18–19.) Like in *J.D.B.*, T.A.W. cites his lack of a bail hearing and the length of time between the commitment order and his placement at Sand Ridge. (T.A.W.'s Br. 18.) As discussed previously, the circuit court correctly recognized that those special circumstances did not eliminate the State's interest in prosecuting T.A.W., and T.A.W. actually received psychiatric treatment in jail while awaiting placement.

T.A.W. adds that his nine months in custody constitute a special circumstance. (T.A.W.'s Br. 18–19.) In T.A.W.'s case, that time is not a special circumstance. *Sell* considered “the possibility that the defendant has already been confined for a significant amount of time” to be relevant to the first factor. *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180. Nine months is not a significant period of time in the context of T.A.W.'s case. If convicted, T.A.W. faces a maximum prison sentence of six years. Wis. Stat. § 939.50(3)(h). His commitment is capped by statute at one year, Wis. Stat. § 971.14(5)(a)1. It will expire on August 13, 2025. (R. 12:2.) He received 44 days of credit for his pre-

commitment custody. (R. 12:2.) Thus, T.A.W. is not at serious risk of being committed for “significant amount of time” compared to his legal jeopardy.

For these reasons, the circuit court correctly concluded that the State satisfied its burden on *Sell* factor one.

C. T.A.W.’s argument regarding the second and fourth *Sell* factors is fatally undeveloped and meritless.

T.A.W. argues in a single paragraph that the individualized treatment plan does not satisfy *Sell*’s second or fourth factors. (T.A.W.’s Br. 19–20.) This bare paragraph does not develop a meaningful argument. This Court should therefore decline to address it. *See State v. Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646–47, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992) (declining to address undeveloped arguments).

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